





BEHAVIOURAL ACTIVATION THERAPY FOR DEPRESSION AFTER STROKE (BEADS): A FEASIBILITY RANDOMISED CONTROLLED PILOT TRIAL OF A PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERVENTION FOR POST-STROKE DEPRESSION

Version 2.2 29 July 2015

Short title: The BEADS Feasibility Pilot Trial

Acronym: BEADS

ISRCTN: 12715175

IRAS Project ID: 165632

Trial Sponsor: University of Nottingham

Sponsor reference: 14116

Funding Source: National Institute for Health Research Health

Technology Assessment Programme (13/14/01)

Sheffield CTRU: 34

Page 1 of 36 date 29 July 2015

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

TRIAL / STUDY PERSONNEL AND CONTACT DETAILS

Sponsor: University of Nottingham

Contact name Ms Angela Shone

Head of Research Governance Research and Graduate Services

King's Meadow Campus

Lenton Lane Nottingham NG7 2NR

Chief investigator: Dr Shirley Thomas

Division of Rehabilitation & Ageing

School of Medicine

Room B105, Medical School University of Nottingham Queens Medical Centre Nottingham NG7 2UH

UoN job title: Lecturer in Rehabilitation Psychology

Phone: 0115 846 7484

Email: shirley.thomas@nottingham.ac.uk

Medical expert: Associate Professor Timothy England

Stroke Medicine

Faculty of Medicine & Health Sciences

University of Nottingham

Room 4106, The Medical School

Royal Derby Hospital Uttoxeter Road Derby DE22 3DT Phone: 01332 724 682

Email: timothy.england@nottingham.ac.uk

Co-investigators:

Professor Patrick Callaghan Dr Cindy Cooper

Professor of Mental Health Nursing Director of Sheffield CTRU
University of Nottingham University of Sheffield

patrick.callaghan@nottingham.ac.uk c.l.cooper@sheffield.ac.uk

Professor Avril Drummond Associate Professor Timothy England

Professor of Healthcare Research Associate Professor
University of Nottingham University of Nottingham

avril.drummond@nottingham.ac.uk timothy.england@nottingham.ac.uk

Dr Nicholas Latimer Professor Nadina Lincoln
Senior Research Fellow Professor of Clinical Psychology

University of Sheffield University of Nottingham

n.latimer@sheffield.ac.uk nadina.lincoln@nottingham.ac.uk

Page 2 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

Dr Roshan das Nair Consultant Clinical Psychologist Nottingham University Hospitals NHS

Trust

roshan.nair@nottingham.ac.uk

Dr Rebecca Palmer Senior Clinical Lecturer

University of Sheffield and University of

Nottingham

r.l.palmer@sheffield.ac.uk

Professor Stephen Walters Professor of Medical Statistics and Clinical Trials University of Sheffield s.j.walters@sheffield.ac.uk

Trial Statistician: **Professor Stephen Walters**

Professor of Medical Statistics and Clinical Trials

School of Health & Related Research

University of Sheffield

Regent Court, 30 Regent Street

Sheffield S1 4DA Phone: 0114 222 0730

Email: s.j.walters@sheffield.ac.uk

Trial Coordinating Centre: Dr Lizzie Coates

Trial Manager

Sheffield Clinical Trials Research Unit School of Health & Related Research

University of Sheffield

Regent Court, 30 Regent Street

Sheffield S1 4DA

Phone: 0114 222 0886

Email: e.coates@sheffield.ac.uk

Protocol amendments since version 1.0:

Version and date	Section(s)	Edit
2.0 (22.01.2015)	3.5.7	Detail added on notification of GPs following ethical review by NRES East Midlands – Leicester.
2.1 (19.06.2015)	3.5.1 / 3.5.2	Additional options added to the recruitment process following early feedback from participating sites. That is, to include the option of a streamlined recruitment process whereby the therapist can contact the patient directly by phone following consent to contact, and to broaden the recruitment routes to include potential participants on acute outpatient caseloads.
2.2 (29.07.2015	3.5.4 / 3.5.6 / 4.2	Additional exclusion criteria to the effect that patients are not eligible to be recruited to BEADS if they are currently receiving psychological intervention; that they will be withdrawn from the intervention arm if it is subsequently agreed that the patient needs immediate clinical psychology input and to clarify that usual care can include

Page 3 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

l n	acuchalagical inn	out post-randomisation.	
U	J5VCHOIOGICAL IIIO	JUL DUSIFLAHUUHHISAHUH.	
I F	20,0		

SYNOPSIS

Title	Behavioural Activation Therapy for Depression after Stroke (BEADS): A	
1110	feasibility randomised controlled pilot trial of a psychological intervention	
	for post-stroke depression	
Acronym	BEADS	
Short title	The BEADS Feasibility Pilot Trial	
Chief Investigator	Dr Shirley Thomas, Lecturer in Rehabilitation Psychology, University of Nottingham	
Objectives	This is a pilot trial to assess the feasibility of undertaking a randomised controlled trial to investigate the clinical and cost-effectiveness of behavioural activation (BA) therapy for people with post-stroke depression.	
Trial Configuration	Parallel group feasibility multicentre randomised controlled trial with nested qualitative research and economic evaluation, comparing BA to usual stroke care for patients with post-stroke depression.	
Setting	Three community stroke services. Intervention delivered in participants' own homes.	
Sample size estimate	A sample size of 60 patients allows SD for continuous outcomes, such as the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) and Visual Analogue Mood Scales (VAMS) Sad, to be estimated to within precision of approximately ±19% of its true value (with 95% confidence). Allocation ratio 1:1 to either usual care or BA.	
Number of participants	72 participants – allowing for 15% attrition by 6 months post-randomisation follow-up. In addition to this, we aim to recruit an estimated 65 carers and 3 therapists – a total of 140 participants across the whole study.	
Eligibility criteria	Inclusion criteria: Stroke; over 18 years old; community dwelling; between 3 months to 5 years post stroke; depressed (identified by scoring ≥10 on PHQ-9 or ≥50 on VAMS Sad, as appropriate) Exclusions: diagnosis of dementia, were receiving medical or psychological treatment for depression at the time of their stroke; are currently receiving psychological intervention; communication difficulties, visual or hearing difficulties that would impact on capacity to take part in intervention; unable to speak English or lack mental capacity to consent.	
	Carers – are eligible to take part in the study on the basis that they provide informal care to the trial participant. Family members, spouses and friends are all eligible to participate as carers in this study (for outcome assessment and qualitative interview).	
	Therapists – the trial therapist from each participating site will be invited to take part in a qualitative interview about their experience of working on the trial and delivering the intervention.	
Description of interventions	Intervention group will receive BA in addition to usual care. Up to maximum 15 (average 10) one-hour sessions over 4 months. The control group will receive usual care.	
Duration of study	32 months overall. 6 months per participant.	

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 Page 4 of 36 date 29 July 2015

Randomisation and blinding	Participants will be randomised after consent and baseline assessments. Randomisation will be conducted using a computer generated pseudorandom list with random permuted blocks of varying sizes, and will be held on a secure server. It is not possible for the participant or therapist to be blind to the group allocation, but the researcher completing outcome assessments will be blinded.
Outcome measures	A series of feasibility outcomes are being measured, and the primary clinical outcome measure is PHQ-9. Additional qualitative analysis of intervention fidelity and feasibility.
Statistical methods	As a feasibility pilot trial the main analysis will be descriptive and focus on confidence interval estimation and not formal hypothesis testing. Rates of consent, recruitment and follow-up by centre and by randomized group will be reported.

ABBREVIATIONS

TSC

ΑE Adverse Event AΡ Assistant Psychologist BA **Behavioural Activation** CI Chief Investigator overall CRF Case Report Form CTRU Sheffield Clinical Trials Research Unit DMEC Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee GCP Good Clinical Practice IAPT Improving Access to Psychological Therapies **ICF** Informed Consent Form NHS National Health Service SOP Standard Operating Procedure Ы Principal Investigator at a local centre PIS Participant Information Sheet **PSD** Post Stroke Depression REC Research Ethics Committee R&D Research and Development department SAE Serious Adverse Event TMG Trial Management Group

Trial Steering Committee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TRIAL / STUDY PERSONNEL AND CONTACT DETAILS	2
SYNOPSIS	4
ABBREVIATIONS	6
1 TRIAL BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND RATIONALE	
1.1 BACKGROUND 1.2 RATIONALE 1.3 SUMMARY OF RISKS AND BENEFITS	9 10 10 10
2 TRIAL OBJECTIVES AND PURPOSE	10
2.2 PRIMARY OBJECTIVE	10 11 11
3 TRIAL DESIGN	.11
3.1.1 Primary endpoint 3.1.2 Secondary endpoint 3.1.3 Safety endpoints 3.1.4 Stopping rules and discontinuation 3.2 RANDOMISATION AND BLINDING 3.2.1 Maintenance of randomisation codes and procedures for breaking code 3.3 TRIAL MANAGEMENT 3.4 DURATION OF THE TRIAL AND PARTICIPANT INVOLVEMENT 3.4.1 End of the trial 3.5 SELECTION AND WITHDRAWAL OF PARTICIPANTS 3.5.1 Recruitment 3.5.2 Eligibility criteria 3.5.3 Inclusion criteria 3.5.4 Exclusion criteria 3.5.5 Expected duration of participant participation 3.5.6 Participant withdrawal	11 11 12 12 12 13 13 14 15 16 16 17
4 TRIAL TREATMENT AND REGIMEN	18
4.2 CONTROL ARM – USUAL CARE 4.3 Compliance 4.3.1 Intervention fidelity	18 19 20 22 23
5 STATISTICS	24
5.2 HEALTH ECONOMIC ANALYSIS	24 24 25

Page 7 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

6 ADVERSE EVENTS	25
6.1 DEFINITION OF ADVERSE EVENTS 6.2 MONITORING OF ADVERSE EVENTS 6.3 REPORTING PROCEDURES	26 26 26
6.4 SUICIDE 6.5 PARTICIPANT REMOVAL FROM THE STUDY DUE TO ADVERSE EVENTS	27 27
7 ETHICAL AND REGULATORY ASPECTS	27
7.1 ETHICS COMMITTEE AND REGULATORY APPROVALS 7.2 INFORMED CONSENT AND PARTICIPANT INFORMATION 7.3 RECORDS 7.3.1 Case Report Forms 7.3.2 Source documents 7.3.3 Direct access to source data / documents 7.4 Data Protection	27 27 29 29 29 29 29
8 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND AUDIT	30
 8.1 Insurance and indemnity 8.2 Trial conduct 8.3 Trial data 8.4 Record retention and archiving 8.5 Discontinuation of the trial by the sponsor 8.6 Statement of confidentiality 	30 30 30 31 31
9 PUBLICATION AND DISSEMINATION POLICY	31
10 USER AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT	32
STUDY FINANCES	32
Funding source Participant stipends and payments	32 32
SIGNATURE PAGES	33
REFERENCES	34

1 Trial background information and rationale

1.1 Background

Depression is the most commonly investigated emotional consequence of stroke [1] with an average prevalence of 29%, which remains consistent up to 10 years post-stroke [2]. Effective treatment of depression is important because depression is associated with increased healthcare utilisation [3], worse rehabilitation outcomes [4-7], increased carer strain [8] and increased mortality [2,9]. Co-morbid long term physical health conditions and mental health problems have been found to increase health care costs [10]. Stroke patients who are depressed may engage less in rehabilitation, which in turn can lead to decreased functional recovery [7]. Post-stroke depression (PSD) is also associated with lower quality of life [2,11]. Thus in addition to improving mood, effective treatment of post-stroke depression is important as this has the potential to improve patients' functional outcomes and quality of life and also reduce strain on their carers.

About one third of stroke patients have aphasia (communication disability) and up to 75% will have significant cognitive impairment. Aphasia can affect all communication modalities including speaking, understanding, reading and writing. Stroke survivors with aphasia may be susceptible to post-stroke depression [12,13]. Cognitive problems include difficulties with attention, perception, memory and executive abilities.

There is currently insufficient evidence for the clinical and cost-effectiveness of psychological therapies for treating post-stroke depression [14]. Trials of brief psychosocial behavioural intervention plus antidepressant [15] and motivational interviewing [16,17] reduced post-stroke depression but these studies recruited patients early after stroke and excluded those with severe communication or cognitive problems, so these interventions may not be applicable to all patients with post-stroke depression. There is evidence from single case design studies that some patients with post-stroke depression improve following Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) [18,19]. However, in the only randomised controlled trial of CBT for post-stroke depression, no significant difference in depression was found between those patients who received CBT, an attention placebo or usual care [20].

A psychological intervention which may be suitable for stroke patients is behavioural activation (BA) therapy. BA is based on the behavioural model of depression, where depression is believed to result from a lack of response-contingent positive reinforcement [21]. Positive reinforcement is dependent on the person's actions [22] and reduction in activity can lead to loss of reinforcement. Stroke can result in a loss or restriction of rewarding activities and interactions (such as everyday activities, hobbies and social interactions) and this loss may lead to depression. BA aims to increase activity level, particularly the frequency of pleasant events, to improve mood. BA is effective at treating depression in adults, older adults and patient-carer dyads with dementia, and has comparable effectiveness to CBT [23-28].

The Chief Investigator (CI) has previously led a Stroke Association-funded multicentre randomised controlled trial (n=105) evaluating BA, delivered by an Assistant Psychologist, for treating depression in stroke patients with aphasia: Communication and Low Mood; CALM trial [29]. This found that mood was significantly better at 6 months follow-up in those who received BA compared to usual clinical care. The transferability of BA to hard-to-reach populations, such as those with aphasia and severe cognitive problems [30,31] adds to its potential as a psychological intervention. Given that CALM demonstrated that it was possible to deliver BA to a group of patients usually excluded from psychological interventions, there is significant potential for using BA for treating all stroke patients with depression.

Page 9 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

1.2 Rationale

There is evidence that BA is effective at treating depression in primary care settings, with older adults and patient-carer dyads with dementia. The CALM trial results were encouraging and if benefits can be demonstrated in those with aphasia, this intervention has real potential to help those without communication problems [29]. Accordingly, a feasibility pilot trial evaluating BA for post-stroke depression is proposed. As the CALM trial was not conducted with the wider stroke population and did not evaluate incremental cost effectiveness, a more robust feasibility study is now required.

1.3 Summary of risks and benefits

This study is not an investigation of a medicinal product (IMP) and entails no invasive procedures. The benefits of BA suggested by the CALM trial include improved mood. No participants will have any existing treatments withdrawn. There is a risk that participants may experience some distress from being asked about their mood, but all researchers and therapists will be trained to deal with these situations. If at any point during the baseline assessment, intervention or outcome assessment the researcher or therapist¹ is concerned about a participant, for example severe distress or reporting feeling suicidal, then the necessary referrals will be made. This process is explained in more detail in section 6 below.

1.4 Importance of the research to future clinical practice

This study will provide information on feasibility and clinical outcomes of BA for treating PSD, and its acceptability to patients, carers and therapists. The results of this study will also provide data on the feasibility of delivering the BA intervention in the NHS as part of routine clinical practice. Such feasibility work is required to provide the data needed to support an application to fund an adequately powered and definitive multicentre RCT evaluating the clinical and cost-effectiveness of BA for treating post-stroke depression for those with and without communication difficulties. The definitive (Phase III) RCT would provide level A evidence for clinical guidelines (the highest level of evidence) and would therefore have potential to change clinical practice nationally and worldwide.

As a feasibility study, this research is not powered to explore any factors that may modify the effects of treatment. This trial will be conducted in compliance with the protocol, GCP and regulatory requirements.

2 Trial objectives and purpose

2.1 Purpose

This is a multicentre pilot trial to assess the feasibility of a study to investigate the clinical and cost-effectiveness of behavioural activation therapy for people with post-stroke depression. This study will provide the necessary parameters and information to plan a definitive Phase III trial to evaluate the clinical and cost-effectiveness of BA for people with post-stroke depression.

Page 10 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

¹ Please note: the role of the recruiting researcher and local therapist will be merged in this trial and is referred to as the 'therapist' throughout. In two sites, this work will be completed by an Assistant Psychologist and in the third site, this work will be completed by a Psychological Wellbeing Practitioner from the local IAPT (Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies) service. Other researchers will be responsible for collecting the 6 month outcome data and completing the qualitative interviews – they are referred to as 'researcher' throughout.

2.2 Primary objective

The primary objective is to determine the feasibility of proceeding to a definitive trial.

2.3 Secondary objectives

The secondary objective is to determine the feasibility of the delivery of the behavioural activation therapy intervention with people with post-stroke depression.

3 Trial design

3.1 Trial configuration

This study will use a parallel group feasibility multicentre randomised controlled trial design, with nested qualitative research, comparing behavioural activation therapy to usual stroke care for patients with post-stroke depression.

3.1.1 Primary endpoint

The primary outcome measures in this study relate to the feasibility of a) proceeding to a definitive trial and b) delivering the behavioural activation therapy intervention with patients with post-stroke depression.

The primary endpoints are based on:

- a. Feasibility of recruitment to the main trial
- b. Acceptability of the research procedures and measures
- c. Appropriateness of the baseline and outcome measures for assessing impact
- d. Retention of participants at outcome
- e. Potential value of conducting the definitive trial, based upon value of information analysis

3.1.2 Secondary endpoint

The secondary endpoints are related to the feasibility of the behavioural activation therapy intervention, based on:

- a. Acceptability of behavioural activation therapy to participants, carers and therapists
- b. Feasibility of delivering the intervention by Assistant Psychologists or IAPT therapist under supervision of an experienced mental health practitioner
- c. Documentation of 'usual care' using healthcare resource use questionnaire
- d. Treatment fidelity of the behavioural activation therapy
- e. Feasibility of delivery of behavioural activation therapy within current services and within a definitive trial

In addition to this, the primary clinical outcome measure at 6 months is the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) [32]. For those participants with moderate to severe language problems who are unable to complete the PHQ-9, the Visual Analog Mood Scales (VAMS) Sad item [33] will be used – this is a single item visual analogue mood measure. The number of participants unable to complete the PHQ-9 will be recorded, and the VAMS Sad will be completed with all participants so the relationship between the measures can be explored. This is a pragmatic approach, based on self-completion at baseline.

The following measures will also be used to assess outcomes at 6 months:

- Stroke Aphasic Depression Questionnaire Hospital version (observer-rated depression)
 [34]
- Nottingham Leisure Questionnaire (leisure activities) [35]
- Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living (functional outcome) [36]

Page 11 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

- Carer Strain Index (carer-rated level of strain) [37]
- EuroQol EQ-5D (health related quality of life) standard version [38] and version for people with cognitive problems [39] for patients and carers
- Healthcare resource use questionnaire

3.1.3 Safety endpoints

Safety will be assessed by recording adverse events (as detailed in section 6 below). As a feasibility study, the trial is not powered to explore efficacy and the primary and secondary endpoints relate to feasibility. The sample size allows estimation of the SD for continuous outcomes, such as the PHQ-9 and VAMS Sad, to within precision of approximately $\pm 19\%$ of its true value (with 95% confidence).

3.1.4 Stopping rules and discontinuation

The study maybe stopped as a whole because of safety concerns or issues with study conduct at the discretion of the sponsor. There are no formal statistical criteria for stopping the trial early. Decisions to stop the trial early on grounds of safety or futility will be made by the Trial Steering Committee (TSC) on the basis of advice from the Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee.

3.2 Randomisation and blinding

Participants will be randomised at baseline (after consent and baseline assessments) in equal proportions to BA or usual stroke care. It is not possible pragmatically for the participant or therapist to be blind to the group allocation, but the researcher completing 6 month outcome assessments will be blinded and will also have had no involvement in any other aspects of the trial. The researcher will be asked to record whether or not they think they were unblinded and will also be asked to guess the group allocation. We will follow guidelines to minimise unblinding during randomised controlled trials of rehabilitation [40,41].

Randomisation will be conducted using a computer generated pseudo-random list with random permuted blocks of varying sizes, created and hosted by the Sheffield CTRU in accordance with their Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) and will be held on a secure server. Study researchers will access the allocation for each participant by logging in to the remote, secure internet-based randomisation system. Once a participant has consented to the study, the researcher will log into the randomisation system and enter basic demographic information. After this information has been entered the allocation for that participant will then be revealed to the researcher. Access to the allocation sequence will be restricted to those with authorisation. The sequence of treatment allocations will be concealed until interventions have been assigned and recruitment, data collection, and analyses are complete.

3.2.1 Maintenance of randomisation codes and procedures for breaking code

Neither the participants nor the therapists will be blind to which treatment the participants will be receiving. The outcome assessor (researcher) will be blind to the treatment received but there is no requirement for them to know the treatment allocation at any stage. As a result a procedure for breaking the code is not necessary.

This protocol is confidential and the property of the University of Nottingham. No part of it may be transmitted, reproduced, published, or used by others persons without prior written authorisation

from the University of Nottingham

3.3 Trial management

The University of Nottingham will act as sponsor for the trial. University of Nottingham SOPs will be used to govern the conduct of all aspects of the study, except where the sponsor has stipulated that adherence to Sheffield SOPs is permissible.

Three committees will be established to govern the conduct of the study: the Trial Steering Committee (TSC), Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee (DMEC) and the Trial Management Group (TMG).

The TSC will consist of an independent chair with clinical and research expertise in the topic area, and three other topic experts, as the sponsor sees fit and as agreed by the grant awarding body. The TSC will meet at least every 6 months with more frequent meetings as necessary to supervise the overall conduct of the trial.

The DMEC will consist of an independent chair with clinical and research expertise in the topic area, and two other topic experts, plus an independent medical statistician, as the sponsor sees fit and as agreed by the grant awarding body. The role of the DMEC is to review serious adverse events thought to be treatment-related and look at outcome data regularly during data collection. They will meet at least annually.

A part-time CTRU Trial Manager will contact the Chief Investigator and consult with the Director of CTRU regularly (and at weekly intervals in the first few months) whilst coordinating the trial. The TMG will meet at least at three-month intervals and will consist of: the Chief Investigator, Trial Manager, Trial Statistician, Trial Data Manager, the Director of CTRU and all co-applicants. Site contacts will be asked to meet with the TMG to address specific tasks, as appropriate. The TMG is accountable to the TSC for the implementation of the trial and therefore will monitor recruitment, data management, randomisation, patient safety, delivery of the intervention, adherence to protocol, timescales and budget management.

The Chief Investigator has overall responsibility for the study and shall oversee all study management. The data custodian will be the Chief Investigator.

3.4 Duration of the trial and participant involvement

Duration of the trial: Enrolment to the study will last for 12 months and data will be collected over an 18 month period in total. The entire study duration is 32 months from award of funding.

Duration of participant involvement: Participants are in the study for approximately 6 months from recruitment to the trial.

3.4.1 End of the trial

The end of the study will be the last qualitative interview or 6 month outcome assessment of the last participant (whichever occurs last).

Page 13 of 36

3.5 Selection and withdrawal of participants

3.5.1 Recruitment

Participants will be recruited from three centres². The process for recruitment will vary depending on the specifics of where the participant is recruited from:

Hospital stroke database and community stroke team database At each site the clinical teams will send invitation letters to those on the hospital or community stroke databases of discharged patients to identify those who may be interested in taking part. Patients will be sent a postal pack containing a covering letter, participant information sheet, reply slip, PHQ-9, VAMS Sad and prepaid envelope. Patients who are interested in taking part will return the reply slip and completed PHQ-9 and VAMS Sad to the therapist. Return of completed questionnaires will be taken as implied consent to be contacted by the therapist, i.e. for potential recruitment into the trial. Those patients who do not reply will be contacted by the clinical team by telephone to remind them about the study. The PHQ-9 and VAMS Sad are used to assess the inclusion criterion of depression; and patients who return the reply slip with the completed PHQ-9 and VAMS Sad will be contacted by the therapist. Those who are identified as not being depressed will be thanked for their interest and will be informed that they are not eligible. The therapist will contact patients classified as depressed to arrange a visit. The purpose of the visit will be to check the participant meets the remainder of the inclusion criteria, to explain the study and formally invite those who are eligible to take part, obtain signed consent and complete baseline assessments. If a patient returns the reply slip to express interest in the study but does not return the completed PHQ-9 and VAMS then the therapist will offer to visit and support the patient to complete these assessments.

(ii) Patients currently on acute hospital stroke wards

At each site, Research Nurses will visit hospital stroke wards to provide information about the research to potential participants and seek their permission to be contacted by the research team in the future (and therefore, permission for their contact details to be passed on to the research team). This will be completed at times that are convenient and when they are able to discuss potential future participation in the research. A screening form will be used to collect key demographic and contact information from all willing, consented patients, who will then be contacted by the local therapist three months from the date of consent to be contacted. Mortality for all patients will be checked with the local Research Nurse or GP prior to further contact with the patient at this stage.

Patients will then be contacted by phone to tell them more about the research and arrange a home visit during which the patient will complete the screening measures. During the home visit, those patients who are identified as not being depressed will be thanked for their interest, and will be informed that they are not eligible. For patients who are classified as depressed, the therapist will either a) arrange a subsequent home visit or b) continue with potential recruitment of the participant as per the steps at (i) above.

Alternatively, the patient can be sent a pack containing a covering letter, participant information sheet, reply slip, PHQ-9, VAMS Sad and a prepaid envelope addressed to the therapist for that site. The same steps outlined above at (i) will then be followed.

(iii) Patients currently on the active caseload of community and acute stroke teams

Page 14 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

² All references to participants relate to people with post-stroke depression, unless otherwise indicated. Carers of trial participants will also be invited to participate in the outcome assessment, and both they and the therapists will be invited to participate in the qualitative interviews.

The study will be presented to the community and acute stroke teams at each of the study sites. The clinical care teams will be asked to explain the study to potential participants at the end of therapy or outpatient appointments or between appointments, as appropriate to the individual patient. For patients who are interested in taking part, the clinician will ask permission for their contact details to be passed on to the therapist. Following this, the therapist can then send a pack to the patients and follow the steps outlined at (i) above, or arrange a home visit and follow the steps at (ii) above.

(iv) Voluntary sector (stroke and aphasia groups)

The therapist at each site will seek permission to attend stroke and aphasia groups in each site to explain the study to group members. Those who are interested in taking part will be invited to provide their contact details to the therapist who will then either arrange a home visit and follow the steps at (ii) above, or send them a pack and follow the steps at (i) above. It will be explained to the potential participant that entry into the trial is entirely voluntary and that their treatment and care will not be affected by their decision. It will also be explained that they can withdraw at any time but attempts will be made to avoid this occurrence. In the event of their withdrawal it will be explained that their data collected so far cannot be erased and we will seek consent to use the data in the final analyses where appropriate.

Carers of trial participants will be recruited via the trial participants and asked to complete the baseline and 6 month outcome assessment questionnaires during the initial home visit. The presence of a carer will be established by the therapist during the telephone call to establish the initial home meeting. A smaller sample of carers will also be invited to participate in the qualitative interviews. Similarly, therapists in each of the three participating sites will be invited to take part in qualitative interviews. Informed consent will be taken from all carer and staff participants. As above, it will be explained to them that their participation is voluntary and that they can withdraw at any time.

3.5.2 Eligibility criteria

Participants will be identified from hospital and community stroke databases at three stroke services, as well as the corresponding acute hospital stroke wards, and from voluntary support groups. Participants will be approached by letter or by clinicians in community and acute stroke teams, or by voluntary group leaders. Self-referrals will be facilitated by advertising the study in newsletters of relevant charities and societies. Posters will also be displayed in local voluntary sector groups, libraries and local community centres so that potential participants unknown to local hospital and community stroke teams can self-present to the local research team. The methods of identifying potential participants have been kept broad to allow assessment of the optimum recruitment strategy for the definitive study. This will also enable recruitment of a representative cross-section of the population.

Carer participants are eligible to take part in the study on the basis that they provide informal care to the trial participant. Family members, spouses and friends are all eligible to participate as carers in this study.

The eligibility criterion for the therapists is also straightforward – only the trial therapist from each participating site will be invited to take part in a qualitative interview about their experience of working on the trial and delivering the intervention.

3.5.3 Inclusion criteria

The criteria are designed to identify those who would be suitable for the intervention were it to be offered within clinical practice. Participants will be included in the study if they:

Page 15 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

- 1. Have a diagnosis of ischaemic or haemorrhagic stroke
- 2. Are age 18 years or over
- 3. Are living in community settings, including home or nursing home
- 4. Are a minimum of three months and a maximum of five years post-stroke
- 5. Are identified as depressed, defined as:
 - a. For participants who are able to complete the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9 [32]): A score of ≥10 on the PHQ-9, or;
 - b. For participants with communication difficulties or severe cognitive difficulties who are unable to complete the PHQ-9: A score of at least 50/100 on Visual Analog Mood Scales (VAMS) Sad item [33]³.

3.5.4 Exclusion criteria

Participants will be excluded from the study if they:

- 1. Had a diagnosis of dementia prior to the stroke (based on self-report by patient/carer)
- 2. Were receiving medical or psychological treatment for depression at the time at which they had their stroke (based on self-report by patient/carer)
- 3. Are currently receiving psychological intervention
- 4. Have communication difficulties that would impact on their capacity to take part in the intervention (based on assessment with the Consent Support Tool [42] for people with aphasia)
- 5. Have visual or hearing impairments that would impact on their capacity to take part in the intervention (based on the therapist's discretion at baseline assessment)
- 6. Were unable to communicate in English prior to the stroke
- 7. Do not have mental capacity to consent to take part in the trial.

All reasons for patient exclusion will be recorded.

3.5.5 Expected duration of participant participation

Study participants will be participating in the study for approximately 6 months.

3.5.6 Participant withdrawal

Participants have the right to withdraw from the study at any time. The reasons for leaving the study will be recorded on a CRF where given. Participants who withdraw will still be invited to complete the six month outcome assessments unless they have specified that they wish to have no further involvement in the trial. Individuals removed from active participation in the intervention will not be replaced. Reason for withdrawal from the intervention, if known, will be recorded.

Participants may be withdrawn from the trial either at their own request or at the discretion of the Investigator. The investigator may withdraw a participant in the interest of the participant (e.g. if continuation in the trial was considered to be causing undue stress) or due to a deviation from the protocol (e.g. where, following review, it transpires that a participant was incorrectly deemed eligible at the time of consent). Participants may discontinue their allocated intervention or withdraw from the study for the following reasons:

- withdrawal of consent,
- changes to their health status preventing their continued participation,
- failure to adhere to protocol requirements.

Page 16 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

³ For clarity, should there be any inconsistency between level of depression measured by PHQ-9 and VAMS Sad; if the patient completes the PHQ-9, this will be used as the measure of depression.

More specifically, if during the trial there is a patient allocated to the BEADS intervention who subsequently needs clinical psychology input (as per the protocol of the local service) then the BEADS therapist (AP/PWP) will discuss this with clinical psychologist or clinical lead and the patient and will agree what is best for the patient. If it is agreed that the patient needs immediate clinical psychology input then they would be withdrawn from the BEADS intervention and they will see the clinical psychologist, or be referred to alternative provision, as appropriate to that patient. The patient will be withdrawn from the intervention but not the overall trial, i.e. we will still be able to collect outcome data from them. We will record the number of patients who we withdraw from the BEADS intervention because of a conflict with clinical services.

The participants will be made aware that this will not affect their current or future care. Participation in the study does not mean that access to other services, which are part of usual care, will be compromised. Participants will be informed (via the information sheet and consent form) that should they withdraw, the data collected up to that point cannot be erased and may still be used in the final analysis. Data should not be erased as it should be possible to recreate a participant's participation up to their point of withdrawal. Also once data has been entered onto the University of Sheffield trial database it cannot easily be erased as data has been backed up and cannot be destroyed.

3.5.7 Informed consent

Written informed consent will be obtained from all participants who are able to give it. Those who lack the mental capacity to give consent are excluded from the trial (see exclusion criteria at 3.5.4 above). The therapists will explain the details of the trial and provide a Participant Information Sheet, ensuring that the participant has sufficient time to consider participating or not. The Investigator will answer any questions that the participant has concerning study participation. One copy of the signed and dated consent form will be kept by the participant, one will be kept by the Investigator, and a third will be retained in the patient's records. Informed consent to participate in the trial will be taken before participants undergo any interventions relating to the study. For patients who are physically unable to sign the form (e.g. weakness in dominant hand due to stroke) then consent will be given using a mark or line in the presence of an independent witness (who has no involvement in the trial) who will then corroborate by signing the consent form.

A significant proportion (up to 50-80%) of the stroke population have some degree of cognitive or language impairment – aphasia. The level of support required to enable a person with aphasia to provide informed consent is dependent upon the severity and profile of the aphasia. In order to provide information in a format consistent with each individual's language ability, a Consent Support Tool (CST) [42] will be used. In the absence of any other published tool to identify the most appropriate style of information to provide on an individual basis, this consent support tool was developed and refined with the assistance of people with aphasia and their carers' in a Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) advisory group during the Computerised Aphasia Therapy pilot study and has been validated in a further piece of work [42]. The therapist will request verbal consent from the potential participant to carry out part A of the CST (10 minutes). The result will indicate how appropriate it is to provide the accessible information sheet. If the CST indicates that the potential participant understands less than two key written or spoken words in a sentence, they are likely to find it difficult to understand all the information required to provide informed consent. These participants will be thanked for their time but are not eligible for the study as, despite the intervention using techniques to support the inclusion of those people with reduced language or cognition, the intervention does rely on achieving understanding with support and actively participating in therapeutic communication.

Page 17 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

The accessible information sheet will be provided to those who understand at least two key written and spoken words. This follows standard aphasia-friendly principles with one idea presented per page in short simple sentences in large font. Key words are emboldened and each idea is represented by a pictorial image to support understanding of what the study is about. The therapists will be trained to support understanding further by reading parts of the information aloud and using supportive gestures/actions (as described for information level 3 of the CST and consistent with the types of support offered in the intervention under study).

Once the potential participant has been given the information and had sufficient to time to ask questions and discuss with family or friends, the therapist will check the individual has capacity to provide informed consent by checking that they understand the information, that they can remember what the study is about and clearly express their decision in the way in which they usually communicate (speaking, writing, using a communication aid). The CST provides information on ways people with aphasia might choose to express their intentions. If capacity if not demonstrated, the therapist will go over the information again and discuss it further.

Participants with capacity to provide informed consent who have used the accessible information provision will be provided with an aphasia-friendly consent form and asked to initial all boxes before signing. Where stroke symptoms prevent initialling of boxes or providing written consent, the patient will use a mark or line and a relative/friend should be asked to witness the fact that the participant is consenting to the study, and sign and date the consent form to confirm this on behalf of the participant.

As participants may become distressed during the study, and as such, may be advised to consult their GPs, contact to notify the GP will be sough t from all participants. Participants' GPs will be notified by letter that their patient is taking part in the research and will be sent a copy of the Participant Information Sheet for information.

Written informed consent will also be taken from carer and therapist participants for the outcome assessments and qualitative interviews.

Should there be any subsequent amendment to the final protocol, which might affect a participant's participation in the trial, continuing consent will be obtained using an amended consent form that will be signed by the participant.

4 Trial treatment and regimen

4.1 Intervention arm – Behavioural Activation Therapy

Behavioural Activation (BA) Therapy is a structured and individualised treatment which aims to increase people's level of activity, particularly the frequency of pleasant or enjoyable events, in order to improve mood. Participants randomised to receive BA will be treated at their place of residence by an assistant psychologist at two sites or IAPT Psychological Wellbeing Practitioner (PWP) at one site. They will be offered a maximum of 15 sessions of BA over four months, with an expected average of 10 sessions. Therapy sessions will be delivered face to face on an individual basis, at the participants' residences and will last about one hour.

The intensity and duration of therapy is based on a study of CBT with stroke patients [20] and is informed by the CALM study in which participants received an average of nine one-

Page 18 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

hour sessions over three months [29]. Experience and criticism of the CBT trial [20] was that therapy was too short. The trial of BA for treating depression in primary care provided 12 sessions over three months [43] but this was not in a stroke sample and patients with communication and/or cognitive difficulties may require a longer duration of therapy. The duration of therapy has been increased from three months to four months because the CALM study showed that it was difficult to complete sessions in three months due to non-availability of the participant, short-term illness, etc. Extending therapy to four months will also allow flexibility to provide therapy visits to support maintenance, as might be provided in clinical practice. However, the number of therapy sessions will vary according to the needs of the individual and their progress in therapy. The intensity of treatment will be negotiated between the therapist and the participant, based on their progress in achieving their therapy goals, as this is a pragmatic trial and is designed to reflect clinical practice.

A BA treatment manual was developed for CALM based on the behavioural component of CBT for depression in stroke patients [18, 20], behavioural therapy with older people [44] and guidelines on conducting therapy with people who have aphasia [44-46]. For this trial, this therapy manual will be further revised to cover BA with stroke patients who do not have aphasia and will provide examples and practical guidance relevant to all stroke patients. The overall structure of the therapy programme will remain the same and the therapy manual will contain session content for 10 sessions using the same behavioural approaches as the CALM study.

Goals set during treatment to increase enjoyable activities will be tailored to the individual. BA also includes 'homework' tasks to be completed between sessions to practice exercises and increase activity levels. Behavioural treatment strategies focus on maximising mood-elevating activities. The process of BA involves identifying how the person currently spends their time, identifying activities that they would enjoy doing (this may include resuming previous activities, increasing current activity levels or introducing new activities) and setting goals to increase the number of enjoyable activities.

Behavioural therapy techniques include:

Activity monitoring: Identifying how participants spend their time to assess current activity level, what activities they enjoy and when activities could be carried out. Participants are given an activity diary or timetable to complete as a homework task. The complexity of the diary will vary according to the cognitive and communication abilities of the patient. The activity diaries are available in a range of formats including the use of word cards, picture cards and photographs.

Activity scheduling: Planning in advance realistic activities and goals for the participant to complete each day, which increases the likelihood that activities will be carried out. The intention is to gradually increase activities, and therefore the amount of positive reinforcement received, in order to improve mood. Activities will be set according to the abilities and goals of the individual.

<u>Graded task assignment</u>: Breaking a large task into smaller, manageable steps provides the opportunity to practise tasks participants find difficult. This increases the frequency of self-reward and reduces the chances of failure. For example, for someone who wants to go shopping, they would start by going to a familiar local shop where they know people already; this would then be extended to going to a larger shop which is further away.

4.2 Control arm - Usual care

Stroke survivors are admitted to hospital, usually to a stroke unit. On discharge they may Page 19 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

receive input from an Early Supported Discharge team or input from a community stroke/rehabilitation team. Availability of psychological support in the community is inconsistent and likely to vary widely across the country (for example, possible pathways are detailed in the Stroke Improvement Programme [47]). The CALM trial [29] found that at the three month follow-up only 14% of participants had received mental health treatment in the past 3 months (from a mental health nurse, counsellor, psychologist, or psychiatrist) and this decreased to 10% at the 6 month follow-up. Although IAPT have extended their remit to include people with physical health problems [48,49] the current rate of uptake by stroke patients is unknown. Participants in the usual care group will follow the current care pathway. Participants will receive all other services routinely available to them as local practice but will have no contact with the trial therapist. This group is the control arm and their care will be recorded to document usual care to inform the design of the definitive trial. Only patients not currently receiving psychological intervention are eligible to be recruited to BEADS. The provision of Clinical Psychology varies. Some sites have a full-time clinical psychologist providing input to both hospital and community services and other sites can access this service but do not have dedicated provision. IAPT services will consider treating stroke patients if referred, but this rarely occurs. GPs may prescribe anti-depressants. Only those with severe mental health problems are referred to psychiatrists. The content of usual care is decided locally by the clinical team as to what this will be, as per local services.

Concomitant treatment

Those being treated for depression at the time of stroke onset will be excluded as we are interested in those who develop depression following stroke (as per exclusion criteria in section 3.5.4 above). However, patients currently receiving antidepressants are included so that we can assess appropriateness of including them in a later definitive trial. Previous research [50] indicates that a high proportion are likely to be taking antidepressants and if they still have scores high enough to indicate they are depressed, it suggests that the antidepressants have not resolved the mood problem. Those currently receiving psychological treatment will be included so we can record how commonly this occurs. Again, previous research suggests that few patients will be receiving on-going psychological treatment [29,51]. Receipt of antidepressant medication or other psychological intervention for depression will be recorded in the CRF.

4.3 Compliance

Compliance with BA is regarded as an endpoint not as a covariate and will be measured by recording whether participants allocated to the BA intervention attend and participate in every therapy session. The completion rates of follow-up questionnaires will also be recorded.

Figure 1: Flow of participants through the trial

Stroke patients identified by stroke service staff and Clinical Research Network (CRN) staff through current and past patient records, on acute wards, and voluntary support organisations. Those screened and found to be eligible informed about study by member of clinical team or voluntary organisation. Assessed for eligibility Those interested agree to be contacted by the therapist. Screened for eligibility face to face. Enrolment Depression identified as scoring ≥10 on Patient Health Questionnaire-9 **Excluded** (PHQ-9) or >50 on VAMS Sad (for those unable to complete PHQ-9) Reasons: Not meeting inclusion criteria Refusal to participate Therapist takes consent for the study Baselines: Modified Rankin Scale, Frenchay Aphasia Screening Test, Montreal Cognitive Assessment, Stroke Aphasic Depression Questionnaire Hospital version, Carer Strain Index, EuroQol EQ-5D (patient and carer), Nottingham Leisure Questionnaire, Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living, healthcare resource use questionnaire Randomised: Participant data entered into online randomisation system which allocates study group **Allocation** Behavioural activation therapy (BA) Usual stroke care Receive all other services routinely available Receive all other services routinely as local practice plus available Maximum 15 (average 10) one hour BA sessions as local practice with therapist over 4 months. Maximise mood elevating activities using education, activity monitoring, activity scheduling and graded tasks. 6 month outcome measures completed Researcher (blind) sends outcome measures by post. Phone call and home visit offered to those where outcomes not returned by post. Follow-up Outcome measures: Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (primary outcome), VAMS Sad. Stroke Aphasic Depression Questionnaire Hospital version, Nottingham Leisure Questionnaire, Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living, Carer Strain Index, EuroQol EQ-5D (patient and carer), healthcare resource use questionnaire Outcome interviews with 8 participants and 5 carers from each group asking about acceptability of study procedures and intervention.

Page 21 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

4.3.1 Intervention fidelity

A training manual will be developed, in addition to the treatment manual, to ensure the therapists receive standardised training. The therapists will attend a two-day workshop led by an NHS Consultant Clinical Psychologist and the Chief Investigator. The workshop will cover the rationale of therapy for treating depression, application of behavioural techniques for treating post-stroke depression, and explanation of the therapy manual. The workshop will include fictional case examples and role play exercises. The workshop will also include training from a Speech and Language Therapist on communicating with stroke patients with cognitive and/or communication difficulties. The training workshop will be recorded, as a potential training resource for future use, but also to ensure the same training is delivered again in the event there is a change to study personnel. Communication resources were developed during the CALM study (such as picture cards and activity schedules) and will be provided for each of the therapists. To support homework activities, worksheets/information appropriate sheets will be developed for varying levels of cognitive difficulties or aphasia.

It is important that the therapists deliver the intervention consistently in accordance with the therapy manual. Weekly clinical supervision for the therapists will be provided by a local Clinical Psychologist at each site. In addition, therapists delivering the intervention will have a monthly teleconference to discuss the content of the intervention, share examples of practice and any difficulties with the Chief Investigator and NHS Consultant Clinical Psychologist. To ensure the fidelity of the intervention, the content of treatment will be described and analysed. This will be achieved by video recording 24 intervention sessions, eight at each of the three sites. This will enable the checking of whether the treatment is being delivered according to the manual and the videos may be used for future training. The video recordings will be transferred to a secure encrypted device and deleted from the video recorder prior to transportation and stored in a secure area on the University of Nottingham server.

Participants and sessions will be selected iteratively using purposive sampling to represent the range of severity of depression (mild, moderate, severe from baseline scores) and across the phases of therapy (beginning, middle and end). The proposed sampling of sessions is outlined in table 1 below. It is anticipated that more sessions will be recorded in the middle phase of therapy because this covers more of the therapy sessions and is where the majority of the BA intervention occurs. The sampling strategy and the content of videos will be regularly reviewed and this will feed into the monthly supervision teleconference with the study therapists. The videos, record forms and monthly supervision will be used to check for the consistency of delivery of BA against the BA therapy manual.

Table 1: Sampling strategy for recording therapy sessions over time

	Mild depression	Moderate depression	Severe depression
Beginning of therapy	2 sessions	2	2
Middle of therapy	4	4	4
End of therapy	2	2	2

Video recordings are required to ensure that non-verbal communication is captured, especially for those with communication difficulties. Practices for video recording will draw upon guidance on minimizing intrusiveness of the recording [52, 53]. The assessors analysing the videos will apply a customized therapy record form designed to capture a variety of key elements spanning all aspects of the intervention. At consent for recruitment into the trial, participants will opt in or opt out of future invitations to be video recorded Should

Page 22 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

a participant decline video recording, they will be offered audio recording instead. Participants will not be excluded from the study if they do not want to be video or audio recorded. We will document the proportion of participants who agree to be video (or audio) recorded.

The therapists will also keep treatment notes for each session to summarise the content of the intervention, and to record goals set during BA and whether these were achieved. Therapists will also complete a record form of therapy content per session. The record form will quantify the content of the intervention (for example, how much time in each session was spent on different components). The record form will be based on a time sampling sheet adapted from that used in the CALM study and based on the content of the BA manual for this study. There will be triangulation between the videos, therapy record form and manual. Comparison between the videos and record form will allow analysis of whether the therapy record form alone is sufficient for recording and monitoring the content of the intervention in a definitive trial. Therapists will be able to add to the record form anything not covered by the defined questions. Those analysing the videos will also be able to add any additional strategies used by therapists not covered by the form. This will enable checking of whether the therapists are using BA consistently and also that they are not using non-BA approaches.

A series of qualitative interviews with 16 participants (eight per arm) and 10 carers (five per arm), as well as all three therapists will be completed by an independent researcher to provide a description of the acceptability of the design and procedures used in the trial and the BA intervention. The participant and carer interviews will be completed in their homes (or agreed convenient private location) and the therapist interviews will be completed in private locations, as agreed with the researcher. All participants will provide informed consent to participate in the interview, which will also be audio recorded on an encrypted digital recorder and transferred to a secure area on the University of Nottingham server. The researcher will transcribe all of the interviews, the transcripts will not include any personal identifiers and the recordings will be deleted upon completion of the transcription.

4.4 Criteria for terminating trial

The study may be stopped as a whole because of safety concerns or issues with study conduct at the discretion of the sponsor. There are no formal statistical criteria for stopping the trial early. Decisions to stop the trial early on grounds of safety or futility will be made by the TSC on the basis of advice from the DMEC.

As stated in 3.1.4 no early stopping is planned, but the study may terminate early if, in the view of the TSC, no useful information is likely to be obtained by continuing. The criteria for assessing this will primarily be the feasibility outcomes listed in section 3.1.1. The Steering Committee may also recommend the closure of a centre but that the trial as a whole continues, on the same grounds. Unblinded adverse event data will be reviewed by the DMEC, who may recommend to the TSC that the trial stops if in their opinion there is evidence of harm in the intervention group. The intervention is low-risk to the trial participants however, and stopping on grounds of patient safety is not anticipated. As this is a feasibility trial, it will not stop early for efficacy.

5 Statistics

5.1 Quantitative Analysis

As the trial is a pragmatic parallel group, RCT data will be reported and presented according to the CONSORT 2010 statement [54]. As a feasibility study the main analysis will be descriptive and focus on confidence interval estimation and not formal hypothesis testing. Rates of consent, recruitment and follow-up by centre and by randomized group will be reported. Outcome measures will be summarised overall and by randomized group, to inform sample size estimation for the definitive trial. The data from this feasibility study will be used to estimate the consent rate, attrition rate, and the variability of the continuous outcomes (e.g. PHQ-9 (primary outcome), VAMS Sad item, Stroke Aphasic Depression Questionnaire – Hospital version, Nottingham Leisure Questionnaire, Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living, Carer Strain Index, EuroQol EQ-5D) in the trial population and use this information to inform the sample size calculation for the definitive RCT. Since the intervention is therapist led, the data will be used to estimate the intra cluster correlation (ICC) for patients treated by the same therapist using a marginal or random effects model for the 6-month post-randomisation PHQ-9 outcome.

As part of the feasibility analysis, the effect size for the 6-month PHQ-9 outcome (the probable primary endpoint for the definitive study), the difference in mean scores between the BA and control groups will be estimated, along with its associated 95% confidence interval estimate [55], using marginal or random effects models with baseline PHQ-9 as a covariate to check that the likely effect is within a clinically relevant range as confirmation that it is worth progressing with the definitive trial. The accuracy of the cut-off of the VAMS Sad in comparison with the PHQ-9 will also be checked. This information along with the acceptability of the study design and protocol to patients and carers; the safety of the intervention; patient recruitment and consent/retention rates will enable us to determine whether or not the definitive RCT is feasible.

5.2 Health economic analysis

For the health economic analysis a cost-utility analysis will be undertaken from the NHS and personal social service perspective. Due to the importance of carers for patients with post-stroke depression, a supplementary analysis will be undertaken, taking into account a societal perspective. Costs and utilities will be estimated for individual patients using data collected at baseline and follow-up, based upon responses to EQ5D and resource use questionnaires, combined with standard cost and valuation sources [56,57]. Patient-level costs and outcomes will be assessed over the full length of the feasibility study, and this will be supplemented with the construction of a simple economic model to examine the longer-term cost-effectiveness of treatment and priorities for future research. Costs will include intervention costs (such as assistant and clinical psychologist time), and health care resource use. Questionnaires will be tested as a method for collecting resource use data and information on carer time. Resource use data will be combined with unit cost data from standard sources using their most up-to-date versions in order to calculate costs for inclusion in the economic analysis [56,57].

Participants who do not have moderate or severe language problems will be asked to complete the standard version of the EQ5D as well as an amended accessible version (based upon pictures). Participants who do have moderate to severe language problems will be asked to complete the accessible version of the EQ5D. In addition, for participants who have carers, the carer will be asked to complete a standard EQ5D by proxy [39]. This will allow us to test alternative methods for collecting data from which to calculate quality

Page 24 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

adjusted life years (QALYs) relevant for the patients included in the study. Utility scores based upon EQ5D responses will be calculated for patients at baseline and follow-up and QALYs will be calculated using the area under the curve defined by the scores and straight line interpolation.

Differences between costs and QALYs in the two groups will be described and the incremental cost effectiveness ratio (ICER) will be calculated. A trial-based analysis will be supplemented by an analysis using a simple decision analytic model, which will be used to estimate the cost-effectiveness of the intervention over the lifetime of the patients. This will be populated using the trial data plus information from the literature where required. While this analysis will allow the estimation of lifetime cost-effectiveness and associated cost-effectiveness acceptability curves through the use of probabilistic sensitivity analysis, it is recognised that this will represent only a provisional estimate of the potential cost-effectiveness of the intervention, due to the nature of the feasibility study. The key outcome from the economic evaluation will be provided by a value of information analysis which will allow us to identify those model parameters that are the best candidates for further research [59]. This will be done by estimating expected values of perfect information for each parameter, which in essence identifies the maximum return for additional research [60].

5.3 Sample size and justification

As a feasibility study, this is not powered for efficacy and no formal interim analyses of efficacy are planned. Rather, the sample size for a feasibility study should be adequate to estimate the uncertain critical parameters (SD for continuous outcomes; consent rates, event rates, attrition rates for binary outcomes) needed to inform the design of the definitive RCT with sufficient precision. The sample size of 60 patients allows SD for continuous outcomes, such as the PHQ-9 and VAMS Sad, to be estimated to within precision of approximately ±19% of its true value (with 95% confidence). Allowing for 15% attrition by 6 months post-randomisation follow-up, 72 participants need to be recruited.

To achieve the target sample size of 72, over the 12 month recruitment period, with three centres we need to randomise 2 participants per centre per month. The sample size estimate of 60 will be synthesised with standard deviations observed in other published studies and on-going trials to provide a robust estimate for use in the sample size calculation for the definitive. Preliminary estimates suggest the definitive RCT would need to include 350 patients, in total, with valid outcome data, to detect a small standardised effect size of 0.35 at conventional levels of power (90%) and significance (5% two-sided).

In addition to this, we estimate that we will recruit a total of 65 carers to the study and three therapists to the study. The carer estimate is based on the CALM study [29] where approximately 90% of people with stroke had an informal carer present who completed the study outcome assessments. As such, the total sample size for the study as a whole is 140.

Further information on both the quantitative and health economic analysis will be provided in the detailed Statistical Analysis Plan. This will cover both the procedures for missing, unused and spurious data and definitions of populations whose data will be analysed.

6 Adverse events

Page 25 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

6.1 Definition of adverse events

If adverse events occur, this will be recorded by the therapist or researcher on the CRF and database. For the purposes of this study, adverse events are defined as suicidal intentions.

6.2 Monitoring of adverse events

Researchers will ask participants about any adverse events at the 6 month follow-up. This information will be collected on outcome questionnaires, or recorded in person for those participants who require help at a home visit. Any adverse events that are self-reported by participants in the intervention group during the delivery of the therapy sessions will also be recorded by the therapist on the CRF and database.

All adverse events will be assessed for seriousness, expectedness and causality. In addition, for additional events that are classed as serious, including death; suicide; a life-threatening adverse event; inpatient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization; disability or incapacity, the therapists and researchers will complete a Serious Adverse Event (SAE) form. For other adverse events, the researcher will complete an Adverse Event form. Further stroke related events will not be reported as SAEs because these are expected within this population.

6.3 Reporting procedures

The local Principal Investigator, therapist or researcher should immediately report all SAEs to the Trial Manager or other members of the CTRU study team (if the Trial Manager is unavailable) by telephone. The SAE form should be faxed to the Trial Manager within 24 hours of discovering the SAE. All SAE forms will be stored in the Site File.

The Trial Manager or other member of the CTRU study team (if the Trial Manager is unavailable) will then inform the Chief Investigator and at least two members of the TMG who will decide whether the event is related to the trial treatment. The DMEC and the TSC will immediately see all SAEs thought by the TMG to be treatment-related. SAEs should be reported by the CTRU to the Head of Department, using the Sponsor's SAE form, as soon as possible, and normally within 5 working days. A copy of the report should be kept in the Trial Master File for reference and a copy sent to the Sponsor.

If a SAE is categorized as related and unexpected, the REC must be informed within 15 days of the Chief Investigator being alerted. This is the responsibility of the Trial Manager at CTRU, or delegated person in their absence. This should be reported to the REC using the Safety Report Form for non-CTIMPs.

The local therapist or the researcher should inform the Trial Manager of any NSAEs within 5 days of becoming aware of the event. He or she should also complete a NSAE form which should be sent to the Trial Manager and a copy held in the Site File. The CI and Trial Manager will review NSAE forms to check the assessment of seriousness and relatedness to the treatment.

Reporting SAEs to relevant bodies will be conducted by the CTRU and will be documented in the Trial Master File. AEs and SAEs will be reported regularly in data reports to the oversight committees.

The DMEC and TSC will review the following at their next scheduled meeting:

- SAEs not thought to be treatment related
- NSAEs thought to be related to the treatment

Page 26 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

NSAEs thought to be unrelated to the treatment

6.4 Suicide

The risk of suicide is inherent in the nature of the condition under scrutiny (depression). We will follow good clinical practice in monitoring for suicide risk during all encounters with trial participants. Where any risk to patients due to expressed thoughts of suicide is encountered, we will follow local suicide protocols for each participating site.

6.5 Participant removal from the study due to adverse events

Any participant who experiences an adverse event may be withdrawn from the study at the discretion of the Investigator.

7 Ethical and regulatory aspects

7.1 Ethics Committee and regulatory approvals

The trial will not be initiated before the protocol, informed consent forms and participant information sheets have received approval from the Research Ethics Committee (REC), and the respective National Health Service (NHS) Research & Development (R&D) departments. Should a protocol amendment be made that requires REC approval, the changes in the protocol will not be instituted until the amendment and revised informed consent forms and participant information sheets (if appropriate) have been reviewed and received approval / favourable opinion from the REC and R&D departments. A protocol amendment intended to eliminate an apparent immediate hazard to participants may be implemented immediately providing that the REC are notified as soon as possible and an approval is requested. Minor protocol amendments only for logistical or administrative changes may be implemented immediately; and the REC will be informed.

The trial will be conducted in accordance with the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki, 1996; the principles of Good Clinical Practice, and the Department of Health Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care, 2005.

7.2 Informed consent and participant information

The process for obtaining participant informed consent will be in accordance with the REC guidance, and Good Clinical Practice (GCP) and any other regulatory requirements that might be introduced. The therapist and the participant shall both sign and date the Informed Consent Form before the person can participate in the study.

The participant will receive a copy of the signed and dated forms and the original will be retained in site files. A second copy will be filed in the patient's notes and a signed and dated note made in the notes that informed consent was obtained for the trial.

As detailed in section 3.5.7, the decision regarding participation in the study is entirely voluntary and consent regarding study participation may be withdrawn at any time without affecting the quality or quantity of future medical care. No trial-specific interventions will be done before informed consent has been obtained. The investigator will inform the participant of any relevant information that becomes available during the course of the study, and will discuss with them whether they wish to continue with the study. If applicable they will be asked to sign revised consent forms. If the Informed Consent Form is amended during the study, the investigator shall follow all applicable regulatory requirements pertaining to approval of the amended Informed Consent Form by the REC and use of the amended form (including for ongoing participants).

Page 27 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

7.3 Records

7.3.1 Case Report Forms

Each participant will be assigned a trial identity code number, allocated at randomisation if appropriate, for use on CRFs, other trial documents and the electronic database. The documents and database will also use their trial identity code.

CRFs will be treated as confidential documents and held securely in accordance with regulations. The investigator will make a separate confidential record of the participant's name, date of birth, local hospital number or NHS number, and Participant Trial Number (the Trial Recruitment Log), to permit identification of all participants enrolled in the trial, in accordance with regulatory requirements and for follow-up as required. CRFs shall be restricted to those personnel approved by the Chief or local Principal Investigator and recorded on the 'Trial Delegation Log.'

All paper forms shall be filled in using black ballpoint pen. Errors shall be lined out but not obliterated by using correction fluid and the correction inserted, initialled and dated. The Chief or local Principal Investigator shall sign a declaration ensuring accuracy of data recorded in the CRF.

7.3.2 Source documents

Source documents shall be filed at the investigator's site and may include but are not limited to, consent forms, current medical records, laboratory results and records. A CRF may also completely serve as its own source data. Only trial staff as listed on the Delegation Log shall have access to trial documentation other than the regulatory requirements listed below.

7.3.3 Direct access to source data / documents

The CRF and all source documents, including progress notes and copies of laboratory and medical test results shall made be available at all times for review by the Chief Investigator, Sponsor's designee and inspection by relevant regulatory authorities (e.g. Department of Health, Human Tissue Authority).

7.4 Data protection

All trial staff and investigators will endeavour to protect the rights of the trial's participants to privacy and informed consent, and will adhere to the Data Protection Act, 1998. The CRF will only collect the minimum required information for the purposes of the trial. CRFs will be held securely, in a locked room, or locked cupboard or cabinet. Access to the information will be limited to the trial staff and investigators and relevant regulatory authorities (see above). Computer held data including the trial database will be held securely and password protected. Information about the trial in the participant's medical records / hospital notes will be treated confidentially in the same way as all other confidential medical information.

Electronic data will be backed up every 24 hours to both local and remote media in encrypted format.

The study will use the CTRU's web-based data management system for the capture and storage of participant data. The system stores all data in a PostgreSQL database on virtual servers hosted by Corporate Information and Computing Services at the University of Sheffield. All data transmissions are over HTTPS (and thus encrypted using SSL/TLS. Access to the system is controlled by usernames and passwords, and a comprehensive

Page 29 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

privilege management feature is used to ensure that users have an appropriate level of access to data required to complete their tasks. This can be used to restrict access to personal identifiable data.

The data management system provides validation and verification features which will be used to monitor study data quality, in line with CTRU SOPs and the Data Management Plan. Error reports will be generated where data clarification is required.

8 Quality assurance and audit

8.1 Insurance and indemnity

Insurance and indemnity for trial participants and trial staff is covered within the NHS Indemnity Arrangements for clinical negligence claims in the NHS, issued under cover of HSG (96)48. There are no special compensation arrangements, but trial participants may have recourse through the NHS complaints procedures.

The University of Nottingham as research Sponsor indemnifies its staff, research participants and research protocols with both public liability insurance and clinical trials insurance. These policies include provision for indemnity in the event of a successful litigious claim for proven non-negligent harm.

8.2 Trial conduct

Trial conduct may be subject to systems audit of the Trial Master File for inclusion of essential documents; permissions to conduct the trial; Trial Delegation Log; CVs of trial staff and training received; local document control procedures; consent procedures and recruitment logs; adherence to procedures defined in the protocol (e.g. inclusion / exclusion criteria, correct randomisation, timeliness of visits); adverse event recording and reporting; accountability of trial materials and equipment calibration logs.

The Trial Coordinator, or where required, a nominated designee of the Sponsor, shall carry out a site systems audit at least yearly and an audit report shall be made to the Trial Steering Committee.

8.3 Trial data

Monitoring of trial data shall include confirmation of informed consent; source data verification; data storage and data transfer procedures; local quality control checks and procedures, back-up and disaster recovery of any local databases and validation of data manipulation. The Trial Coordinator, or where required, a nominated designee of the Sponsor, shall carry out monitoring of trial data as an ongoing activity.

Entries on CRFs will be verified by inspection against the source data. A sample of CRFs (10% or as per the study risk assessment) will be checked on a regular basis for verification of all entries made. In addition the subsequent capture of the data on the trial database will be checked. Where corrections are required these will carry a full audit trail and justification.

Trial data and evidence of monitoring and systems audits will be made available for inspection by REC as required.

Page 30 of 36
The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

8.4 Record retention and archiving

In compliance with the ICH/GCP guidelines, regulations and in accordance with the University of Nottingham Research Code of Conduct and Research Ethics, the Chief or local Principal Investigator will maintain all records and documents regarding the conduct of the study. These will be retained for at least 7 years or for longer if required. If the responsible investigator is no longer able to maintain the study records, a second person will be nominated to take over this responsibility.

The Trial Master File and trial documents held by the Chief Investigator on behalf of the Sponsor shall be finally archived at secure archive facilities at the University of Nottingham. This archive shall include all trial databases and associated meta-data encryption codes.

8.5 Discontinuation of the trial by the sponsor

The Sponsor reserves the right to discontinue this trial at any time for failure to meet expected enrolment goals, for safety or any other administrative reasons. The Sponsor shall take advice from the Trial Steering Committee and Data Monitoring and Ethics Committee as appropriate in making this decision.

8.6 Statement of confidentiality

Individual participant medical information obtained as a result of this study is considered confidential and disclosure to third parties is prohibited with the exceptions noted above. Participant confidentiality will be further ensured by utilising identification code numbers to correspond to treatment data in the computer files.

Such medical information may be given to the participant's medical team and all appropriate medical personnel responsible for the participant's welfare.

If information is disclosed during the study that could pose a risk of harm to the participant or others, the researcher will discuss this with the CI and where appropriate report accordingly.

Data generated as a result of this trial will be available for inspection on request by the participating physicians, the University of Nottingham and University of Sheffield representatives, the REC, local R&D departments and the regulatory authorities.

9 Publication and dissemination policy

Dissemination will be undertaken through peer-reviewed scientific journals and clinical and academic conferences, both national and international. A final report and monograph will be produced for the HTA. We will also ensure regular dissemination to interested parties via the study website or mailing lists.

A lay summary of findings for participants, service users and carers that is accessible to stroke survivors will be produced in consultation with local consumer groups. Findings will be disseminated nationally to stroke survivors and carers through free publications such as Stroke News (published by The Stroke Association). Organisations such as The Stroke Association, Connect and local stroke groups will be used as a medium for accessing stroke survivors. An executive summary will be prepared for the Trusts where the research was conducted and for the NHS authorities and stakeholders. The findings will be presented at the Nottingham stroke lay conference for stroke survivors and carers.

The study team is obliged, by the terms of its contract, to notify the HTA programme of any intention to publish the results of HTA-funded work at least 28 days in advance of publication

Page 31 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

in a journal. This also applies to public oral and poster presentations. The Trial Steering Committee will also be notified of publications which report the final output of the study.

10 User and public involvement

The Chief Investigator attended the Nottingham Stroke Research Partnership Group to discuss the proposal for this study. They stated that this proposal receives their "strong support". In particular they commented that they "cannot stress to strongly how important I think it is to have a strong qualitative element to the study, so that patients' and carers' experiences of the intervention can be captured and taken into account" and this has informed the qualitative component of the study.

Representatives from the Sheffield Aphasia Research Advisory Group will be invited to join a PPI (group for the study and will have input at the planning, conduct, analysis and dissemination stages of the study. A plain English summary of study progress will be provided to the group every six months and they will meet at regular intervals throughout the study. Information materials for participants will be developed in consultation with the group to ensure they are appropriate and accessible. This is particularly important as some participants will have communication or cognitive difficulties. Involvement will also include advice on considerations of how best to deliver the intervention to the stroke population, from the service users' perspective; contributing to ideas on recruitment strategies. This group will also advise on the dissemination materials to ensure the results are accessible to a lay audience, in particular, stroke patients with communication or cognitive difficulties.

Study finances

Funding source

This study is funded by NIHR Health Technology Assessment programme.

Participant stipends and payments

Participants will not be paid to participate in the trial.

Signatories to Protocol: Chief Investigator: (name)_______ Signature:______ Date: ______ Signature:______ Date: ______

Signature pages

References

- Lincoln NB, Kneebone II, Macniven JAB, Morris R. Psychological Management of Stroke. 2012. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.
- 2. Ayerbe L, Ayis S, Wolfe CDA, Rudd AG. Natural history, predictors and outcomes of depression after stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis. British Journal of Psychiatry 2013; 202: 14-21.
- 3. Ghose SS, Williams LS, Swindle RW. Depression and other mental health diagnoses after stroke increase inpatient and outpatient medical utilization three years poststroke. Medical Care 2005; 43: 1259-1264.
- 4. Pohjasvaara T, Vataja R, Leppavuori A, Kaste M. Depression is an independent predictor of poor long-term functional outcome post-stroke. European Journal of Neurology 2001; 8: 315-9.
- Van de Weg FB, Kuik DJ, Lankhorst GJ. Post-stroke depression and functional outcome: a cohort study investigating the influence of depression on functional recovery from stroke. Clinical Rehabilitation 1999;13: 268–72.
- 6. Herrmann N, Black SE, Lawrence J, Szekely C, Szalai JP. The Sunnybrook Stroke Study: A prospective study of depressive symptoms and functional outcome. Stroke 1998; 29: 618-24.
- 7. Gillen R, Tennen H, McKee TE, Gernert-Dott P. Depressive symptoms and history of depression predict rehabilitation efficiency in stroke patients. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2001; 82: 1645-9.
- 8. Cameron JI, Cheung AM, Streiner DL, Coyte PC, Steward DE. Stroke survivor depressive symptoms are associated with family caregiver depression during the first 2 years poststroke. Stroke 2011; 43: 302-306.
- 9. Bartoli F, Lillia N, Lax A., et al. Depression after stroke and risk of mortality: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Stroke Research and Treatment, 2013. Article ID 862978.
- 10. Appleby J, Thompson J, Galea A. How is the NHS performing? 2012. King's Fund.
- 11. Bays CL. Quality of life of stroke survivors: a research synthesis. Journal of Neuroscience Nursing 2001; 33: 310-316.
- 12. Kauhanen ML, Korpelainen JT, Hiltunen P, Määttä R, Mononen H, Brusin E., et al. Aphasia, depression, and non-verbal cognitive impairment in ischaemic stroke. Cerebrovascular Diseases, 2000; 10: 455-461.
- 13. Thomas SA, Lincoln NB. Predictors of emotional distress after stroke. Stroke 2008; 39: 1240- 1245.
- 14. Hackett ML, Yang M, Anderson CS, Horrocks JA, House AO. Interventions for treating depression after stroke. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008, Issue 4: CD003437.
- 15. Mitchell PH, Veith RC, Becker KJ, Buzaitis A, Cain KC, Fruin M, et al. Brief psychosocial-behavioral intervention with antidepressant reduces poststroke depression significantly more than usual care with antidepressant. Stroke 2009; 40: 3073-3078.
- 16. Watkins CL, Auton MF, Deans CF, Dickinson HA, Jack CIA, Lightbody C, et al. Motivational interviewing early after stroke. A randomized controlled trial. Stroke 2007; 38: 1004-1009.
- 17. Watkins CL, Wathan JV, Leathley MJ, Auton MF, Deans CF, Dickinson HA, et al. The 12-month effects of early motivational interviewing after acute stroke: a randomized controlled trial. Stroke 2011; 45: 1956-1961.
- 18. Lincoln NB, Flannaghan T, Sutcliffe L, Rother L. Evaluation of cognitive behavioural treatment of depression after stroke: a pilot study. Clinical Rehabilitation 1997; 11: 114-122.
- 19. Rasquin SMC, van de Sande P, Praamstra AJ, van Heugten CM. Cognitive-behavioural intervention for depression after stroke: five single case studies on effects and feasibility. Neuropsychological Rehabilitation 2009; 19: 208-222.
- Lincoln NB, Flannaghan T. Cognitive behavioural psychotherapy for depression following stroke. Stroke 2003; 43: 111-115.
- 21. Lewinsohn PM. A behavioural approach to depression. In: Friedman R, Katz M, editors. The psychology of depression: Contemporary theory and research. Washington, D.C.: V.H.Winston & Sons; 1974. p. 157-78.

Page 34 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

- 22. Martell CR, Dimidjian S, Herman-Dunn R. Behavioral activation for depression: a clinician's guide. 2010. New York: Guilford Press.
- 23. Cuijpers P, van Straten A, Warmerdam L. Behavioral activation treatments of depression: a meta-analysis. Clinical Psychology Review 2007; 27: 318-326.
- Ekers D, Richards D, Gilbody S. A meta-analysis of randomized trials of behavioural treatment of depression. Psychological Medicine 2008; 38:611-623.
- Jacobson NS, Dobson KS, Truax PA, Addis ME, Koerner K, Gollan JK, et al. A component analysis of cognitive-behavioral treatment for depression. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 1996; 64: 295-304.
- 26. Mazzucchelli T, Kane R, Rees C. Behavioral activation treatments for depression in adults: a meta- analysis and review. Clinical Psychology Science and Practice 2009; 16: 383-411.
- 27. Scogin F, Welsh D, Hanson A, Stump J, Coates A. Evidence-based psychotherapies for depression in older adults. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 2005; 12: 222-237.
- 28. Teri L, Logsdon RG, Uomoto J, McCurry SM. Behavioral treatment of depression in dementia patients: A controlled clinical trial. Journal of Gerontology 1997; 52B: 159-166.
- Thomas SA, Walker MF, Macniven JA, Haworth H, Lincoln NB. Communication and Low Mood (CALM): a randomized controlled trial of behavioural therapy for stroke patients with aphasia. Clinical Rehabilitation 2013; 27:398-408.
- 30. Kanter JW, Puspitasari AJ, Santos MM, Nagy GA. Behavioural activation: history, evidence and promise. British Journal of Psychiatry 2012; 200: 361-363.
- 31. Grober S, Hibbard MR, Gordon WA, Stein PN, Freeman A. The psychotherapeutic treatment of post-stroke depression with cognitive behavioural therapy. In: Gordon WA, ed. Advances in Stroke Rehabilitation. Andover: Andover Medical Publishers; 1993: 215-241.
- 32. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. Journal of General Internal Medicine 2001; 16: 606-613.
- 33. Stern RA. Visual Analog Mood Scales Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources Inc.; 1997.
- 34. Lincoln NB, Sutcliffe LM, Unsworth G. Validation of the stroke aphasic depression questionnaire (SADQ) for use with patients in hospital. Clinical Neuropsychological Assessment 2000; 1:88-96.
- 35. Drummond AER, Walker, MF. The Nottingham Leisure Questionnaire for stroke patients. British Journal of Occupational Therapy 1994; 57: 414–18.
- 36. Nouri FM, Lincoln NB. An extended activities of daily living scale for stroke patients. Clinical Rehabilitation 1987; 1: 301-5.
- 37. Robinson B. Validation of a Caregiver Strain Index. Journal of Gerontology 1983; 38: 344-348.
- 38. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen MF, Kind P, Parkin D, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Quality of Life Research 2011; 20: 1727-1736.
- 39. Latimer NR, Dixon S, Palmer R. Cost-utility of self managed computer therapy for people with aphasia. International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care 2013; 29: 402-409.
- 40. Siemonsma, PC, Walker MF. Practical guidelines for independent assessment in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of rehabilitation. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 1997; 11: 273-279.
- 41. Minns Lowe CJ, Wilson MS, Sackley CM, Barker KL. Blind outcome assessment: the development and use of procedures to maintain and describe blinding in a pragmatic physiotherapy rehabilitation trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 2011; 25: 264-274.
- 42. Jayes M, Palmer, R. Initial evaluation of the Consent Support Tool: A structured procedure to facilitate the inclusion and engagement of people with aphasia in the informed consent process. International Journal of Page 35 of 36

The BEADS Pilot Trial Protocol Version 2.2 date 29 July 2015

- Speech-Language Pathology, 2014; 16: 159-68.
- 43. Ekers D, Richards D, McMillan D, Bland M., Gilbody S. Behavioural activation delivered by the non-specialist: phase II randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 2011; 198: 66-72.
- 44. Laidlaw K, Thompson LW, Dick-Siskin L, Gallagher-Thompson D. *Cognitive behaviour therapy with older people*. 2003. UK: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- 45. Grober S, Hibbard MR, Gordon WA, Stein PA, Freeman A. The psychotherapeutic treatment of post-stroke depression with cognitive behavioural therapy. In Gordon, W.A. (Ed) *Advances in Stroke Rehabilitation*. Andover: Andover Medical Publishers; 1993.
- 46. Broomfield NM, Laidlaw K, Hickabottom E, Murray MF, Pendrey R, Whittick, Gillespie DC. Post-stroke depression: the case for augmented, individually tailored cognitive behavioural therapy. *Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy* 2011; 18: 202-217.
- 47. NHS Improvement Stroke. Psychological care after stroke: Improving stroke services for people with cognitive and mood disorders. 2011.
- 48. NHS Confederation. *Investing in emotional and psychological wellbeing for patients with long-term conditions*. The NHS Confederation. 2012
- 49. Department of Health. *Improving Access to Psychological Therapies: Long-term conditions positive practice guide*. 2008. http://www.iapt.nhs.uk/silo/files/longterm-conditions-positive-practice-guide.pdf
- 50. Ruddell M, Spencer A, Hill K, House A. Fluoxetine *vs* placebo for depressive symptoms after stroke: failed randomised controlled trial. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 2007; 22: 963-965.
- 51. Lincoln NB, Worthington E, Mannix K. A survey of the management of mood problems after stroke by clinical psychologists. *Clinical Psychology Forum* 2012; March.
- 52. Jordan B, Henderson A. Interaction analysis: foundations and practice. 1995 (Accessed 02.12.2014 at http://lrs.ed.uiuc.edu/students/c-merkel/document4.HTM)
- 53. Heath C. Analysing work activities in face to face interaction using video. In D Silverman (ed.) Qualitative Methods 1997: London: Sage., pp183-200.
- 54. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D, for the CONSORT Group. CONSORT 2010 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ* 2010; 340: c332.
- 55. Walters S.J. Quality of life outcomes in clinical trials and health care evaluation: a practical guide to analysis and interpretation. Chichester: Wiley 2009.
- 56. Department of Health. National Schedule of Reference Costs 2013.
- 57. Dolan P. Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. Medical Care 1997; 35: 1095-108.
- 58. Curtis L. *Unit costs of health and social care*. Personal and Social Services Research Unit. University of Kent at Canterbury; 2012.
- 59. Griffin S, Welton NJ, Claxton K. Exploring the research decision space: the expected value of information for sequential research designs. *Medical Decision Making* 2010; 30: 155-62
- 60. Claxton K, Sculpher M, Drummond M. A rational framework for decision making by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE). *The Lancet* 2002; 360: 711-15.